
1

NOTICE OF MEETING
CABINET

THURSDAY, 8 JANUARY 2015 AT 1.00 PM

EXECUTIVE MEETING ROOM - THE GUILDHALL

Telephone enquiries to Joanne Wildsmith, Democratic Services Tel 9283 4057
Email: joanne.wildsmith@portsmouthcc.gov.uk

Membership

Councillor Donna Jones (Chair)

Councillor Luke Stubbs
Councillor Ken Ellcome
Councillor Frank Jonas
Councillor Lee Mason

Councillor Robert New
Councillor Linda Symes
Councillor Steve Wemyss
Councillor Neill Young

(NB This Agenda should be retained for future reference with the minutes of this meeting.)

Please note that the agenda, minutes and non-exempt reports are available to view online on 
the Portsmouth City Council website:  www.portsmouth.gov.uk

Deputations by members of the public may be made on any item where a decision is 
going to be taken. The request should be made in writing to the contact officer (above) by 
12 noon of the working day before the meeting, and must include the purpose of the 
deputation (for example, for or against the recommendations). Email requests are 
accepted.

A G E N D A

1  Apologies for Absence 

2  Declarations of Interests 

3  Record of Previous Decision Meeting - 4 December 2014 (Pages 1 - 6)

RECOMMENDED that the record of decisions of the Cabinet meeting held on 
4 December 2014 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

4  Forward Plan Omission 

The Council Tax Base report was omitted from the Forward Plan for January 
2015 published on 9 December 2014 but appeared on the re-published 

Public Document Pack



2

Forward Plan of 12 December.  The Chair of the City Council's Scrutiny 
Management Panel has been notified and a public notice published.

RECOMMENDED that the omission to the Forward Plan for January 2015 be 
noted and that the necessary public notice has been published.

5  Calculation of the tax base for 2014/15 and estimation of the Council tax 
collection fund balance at 31st March 2015 (Pages 7 - 16)

The purpose of the attached report by the Head of Revenues and Benefits 
seeks to

(i) obtain formal approval of the tax base calculated for the financial year 
2015/16 for the City Council.

(ii) approve the estimate of the balance on the Council Tax Collection Fund 
at 31 March 2015.

RECOMMENDED 
(1) That in accordance with The Local Authorities (Calculation of 

Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012, the amount 
calculated by Portsmouth City Council as its Council Tax Base 
for 2015/16 shall be 53,277.2

(2) That in accordance with The Local Authorities (Funds) (England) 
Regulations 1992 as amended, the amount calculated by 
Portsmouth City Council as the surplus on its Council Tax 
Collection Fund at 31 March 2015 shall be £2.19 million.

6  Business Rates Discretionary Relief Policy (Pages 17 - 46)

The purpose of the report by the Head of Revenues and Benefits is for 
Cabinet to approve a technical change and to delegate authority to the Head 
of Revenues & Benefits for further Government policy or legislated change.

RECOMMENDED that the Cabinet:

(1) Approves the Government policy amendment that will increase 
Retail Relief to a maximum of £1,500 for 2015/16

(2) Grants delegated authority to the Head of Revenues & Benefits 
to update the policy in the case of any further Government policy 
or legislated change

Members of the public are now permitted to use both audio visual recording devices and social 
media during this meeting, on the understanding that it neither disrupts the meeting or records 
those stating explicitly that they do not wish to be recorded. Guidance on the use of devices at 
meetings open to the public is available on the Council's website and posters on the wall of the 
meeting's venue.



3



This page is intentionally left blank



75

CABINET

RECORD OF DECISIONS of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday, 4 
December 2014 at 1.00 pm at the Guildhall, Portsmouth

Present

Councillor Donna Jones (in the Chair)

Councillors Luke Stubbs
Ken Ellcome
Frank Jonas
Lee Mason
Linda Symes
Steve Wemyss

95. Apologies for Absence (AI 1)

Councillor Young had sent his apologies for absence and Councillor New was 
on his way from another meeting.

96. Declarations of Interests (AI 2)

There were no declarations of members' interests.

97. Record of Previous Decision Meeting - 6 November 2014 (AI 3)

DECISION: that the record of decisions of the Cabinet meeting held on 6 
November 2014 be agreed as a correct record to be signed by the Leader.

98. Consideration of the option of entering the Building Control Partnership 
(AI 4)

The Cabinet Members were supportive of this move to a more efficient 
provision of service that would also attract more income, and which would 
give more professional development of staff by sharing resources with 
neighbouring authorities.

DECISIONS:

(1) That PCC explore entering into a new partnership, working within 
the Fareham and Gosport Partnership as the future service 
delivery model on the terms outlined in the report. 

(2) That implementation costs and ongoing revenue costs are met 
from within the existing City Development Service cash limit. 

(3) The final decision was delegated to the Strategic Director for 
Regeneration in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Regeneration and Economic Development.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



76

99. Budget  and Performance Monitoring 2014/15 2nd Quarter to end 
September 2014 (AI 5)

The Leader congratulated the Section 151 Officer and staff involved in the 
successful attraction of the non ring-fenced grants totalling £566,200 in 
2014/15.

RECOMMENDED to Council that:
(i) The contents of this report be noted, in particular the overall forecast
overspend of £1,501,500 representing a variance of 0.9% against the City
Council Budget (as adjusted) of £175,030,000.
(ii) To enable the Children's & Education Portfolio to address the deficit 
against the Council approved cash limit, the Children's Social Care & 
Safeguarding savings proposals for 2015/16 totalling £1,917,000 outlined 
in Table 1 be noted.
(iii) To remedy the historic underlying budget deficit relating to Parking 
within the Traffic & Transportation Portfolio, it be noted that an annual 
appropriation from the Parking Reserve in the amount of £400,000 per 
annum has been made.
(iv) That the Council Leader works with the relevant portfolio holder to 
consider measures necessary to significantly reduce or eliminate the 
adverse budget position presently being forecast within Children & 
Education and Health & Social Care Portfolios and any necessary 
decisions presented to a future meeting of the relevant portfolio.

(This would be considered by Council on 20 January 2015)

100. Portsmouth City Council Revenue Budget 2015/16 - Savings Proposals 
(AI 6)

Deputations were made by:

i) Tracey Jones, of Pete's Airlink, as manager of the Dial-a-ride scheme 
which had between 900-1000 customers a month, 80% of whom 
were over the age of 65, whose mobility and disability needs were 
wide-ranging.  She explained the difference between this service 
and a standard taxi service, as they knew their clients and their 
needs and covered areas not well-served by bus routes. She was 
grateful for the meeting held with some of the cabinet members that 
morning which had been constructive in looking at a way forward so 
that the service would not be lost. 

ii) Karen Silman, as a user of Dial-a-ride and MS sufferer explained the 
value of the existing service which took her to receive 
physiotherapy.   The drivers gave extra help and were 
knowledgeable in assisting wheelchair users who did not always 
have access to buses, depending on routes and availability of the 
dedicated disabled space on board.  Dial-a-ride gave her 
independence and safety, and she found them the most 
professional service providers and felt it was important to keep this 

Page 2



77

service when Portsmouth was aspiring to be a Dementia Friendly 
City, as the drivers knew the history of their clients.

iii) Steve Bonner, representing The Portsmouth Pensioners Association 
spoke in opposition to the cuts in Adult Social Care, concentrating 
on the removal of podiatry care and free swimming for the over 60s, 
both of which currently helped to promote health and mobility, and 
this group would be least able to pay for these services.  He felt 
these would be false economies which could lead to a greater call 
on critical care later on.  Portsmouth Pensioners also regretted the 
removal of their £2500 grant which was used for their Pompey 
Pensioner magazine, 25% of which promoted PCC services and 
events and which was important in their campaigns for their 
members, so hoped part of the £500,000 being made available for 
voluntary organisations (within the Transition Fund) could be used 
to help them develop the magazine and source advertising 
opportunities.

A written deputation had also been submitted by Mrs Cross of Farlington as a 
user and supporter of the Dial-a-Ride scheme, which was read out by the 
Leader.

The Leader explained that the initial savings proposals had been made 
available 4 weeks in advance gauge the strength of public feeling and to 
explore the alternatives with experts.  Therefore a meeting had been held with 
Tracey Jones as the manager of the Dial-a-ride service to work on an 
alternative not for profit model to help the service continue, with PCC 
providing advice on this.   

In response to the concerns of Portsmouth Pensioners, the Leader felt that 
there is potential for them to raise income for their magazine from other 
sources and offered the assistance of PCC's income generation expert.  
Whilst the value of swimming was acknowledged, many of those participating 
in the 60+ sessions would be able to afford to continue.

Councillor Ellcome, as Cabinet Member for Traffic & Transportation, was 
pleased that discussions were taking place for a continuity of a Dial-a-ride 
type service to ensure continuity for the users.  Councillor Wemyss also 
supported the continuity of this service which was valued by many residents in 
Drayton & Farlington, and the Leader thanked Councillor Potter for his 
involvement for Paulsgrove users of the service, as well as Tracey and Keiran 
for meeting with her and Councillors Ellcome, Stubbs and Jonas to seek a 
way forward.

A commitment was given by the Administration to work with the current 
providers to deliver an alternative, not-for-profit service for the existing users 
of Dial-a-Ride.

RECOMMENDED to Council that:

(1) That the following be approved:

Page 3



78

(a) That the Council's Budget for 2015/16 be prepared on the basis of 
a Council Tax freeze

(b) The savings proposals for each Portfolio amounting, in total, to 
£13.1m for 2015/16, £13.1m for 2016/17 and £13.1m in 2017/18 as 
set out in Appendix A to enable appropriate consultation and 
notice periods to be given to affected parties

(c) Given the capital investment needs of the City, the funding gap 
between need and available resources and the importance of the 
Capital programme in delivering the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, that £3.0m of the overall £5.2m financial improvement in 
the City Council's financial position be transferred to the Revenue 
Reserve for Capital in order to supplement the capital resources 
available for new Capital Investment (see paragraphs 8.11 and 
8.12)

(d) Given the current uncommitted balance on the MTRS Reserve of 
£2.1m is very modest in the context of the £37m of savings that 
the Council is required to make over the next 3 years and that it is 
also the Council's primary vehicle for providing funding for 
redundancies and Spend to Save initiatives, that the remaining 
£2.2m of the overall £5.2m financial improvement in the City 
Council's financial position be transferred to the Medium Term 
Resource Strategy Reserve (see paragraph 8.14)

(e) That £500,000 be released from the MTRS Reserve to create a 
Voluntary Sector Capacity & Transition Fund to enable the 
voluntary sector to reconfigure their service or enhance their 
capacity / infrastructure in order to support / provide council 
services as set out in paragraph 10.16

(f) In the event that the Voluntary Sector Capacity & Transition Fund 
is created, that the use of those funds be released on the same 
spend to save criteria adopted for other MTRS funds and that the 
allocation of these funds be delegated to the Head of Financial 
Services & S151 Officer in consultation with the Leader of the 
Council

(g) To undertake the necessary business intervention work described 
in paragraphs 10.17 and 10.18 at the necessary scale and pace to 
deliver significant change and cost reduction, it is recommended 
that a Business Intervention Fund be created in the sum of 
£500,000 to be used flexibly across years and funded from the 
MTRS Reserve

(h) In the event that the Business Intervention Fund is created, that 
the use of those funds be used both, independently of, and in 
synergy with, the Voluntary Sector Capacity & Transition Fund 
and that the allocation of these funds be delegated to the Head of 

Page 4



79

Financial Services & S151 Officer in consultation with the Leader 
of the Council

(i) That the funds released under recommendations (e) and (g) be 
used flexibly across the 2014/15 and future financial years and 
that the S151 Officer be given delegated authority to determine the 
annual allocations as necessary

(2) That the Council note:

(a) The Budget Savings Requirement for 2015/16 approved by the 
City Council and based on a Council Tax increase of 1.95% is 
£12.5m; based on a Council Tax freeze, that savings requirement 
increases to £13.1m

(b) The key themes arising from the budget consultation

(c) The indicative savings proposals set out in Appendix B which are 
provided for the purpose of demonstrating to the Council that the 
Portfolio savings as recommended in paragraph 3.1(b) above are 
robust and deliverable

(d) The likely impact of savings as set out in Appendix B based on 
the scale of the Portfolio savings as recommended in paragraph 
3.1(b)

(e) That the responsibility of the City Council is to approve the overall 
Budget and the associated cash limits of its Portfolios and 
Committees; it is not the responsibility of the City Council to 
approve any individual savings within those Portfolios / 
Committees

(f) That it is the responsibility of the individual Portfolio Holders (not 
the City Council) to approve the individual savings proposals and 
the Portfolio Holder can therefore, in response to any 
consultation, alter, amend or substitute any of the indicative 
savings proposal(s) set out in Appendix B with alternative 
proposal(s) amounting to the same value within their Portfolio

(g) Managers will commence any necessary consultation process or 
notice process necessary to implement the approved Portfolio / 
Committee savings

(h) That there is no general provision for Budget Pressures and that it 
is the responsibility of the Portfolio Holder to manage any Budget 
Pressures which arise from the overall resources available to the 
Portfolio (which includes their Portfolio Reserve)

(i) In accordance with the approved financial framework, it is the 
responsibility of the Portfolio Holder, in consultation with the 

Page 5



80

Head of Finance & S151 Officer, to release funds from the 
Portfolio Reserve in accordance with the provisions set out in 
paragraph 10.10

(j) The MTRS Reserve held to fund the upfront costs associated with 
Spend to Save Schemes, Invest to Save Schemes and 
redundancies holds a very modest uncommitted balance of £3.3m 
(see footnote 2 of the report, page 8) and will only be replenished 
from an approval to the transfer of any non-Portfolio underspends 
at year end into this reserve.

The meeting concluded at 1.37 pm.

Councillor Donna Jones
Leader of the Council

Page 6



 

1 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

   
 
 

                                              Agenda item:  
Decision maker: 
 

CABINET 

Subject: 
 

Calculation of the tax base for 2015/16 and estimation of the 
Council Tax Collection Fund balance at 31st March 2015 
 

Date of decision: 
 

8 January 2015 

Report by: 
 

Head of Financial Services and Head of Revenues & 
Benefits 
 

Wards affected: 
 

All 

Key decision:  

Budget & policy framework decision:  

 

 
1. Summary 
 
The tax base for Portsmouth City Council for 2015/16 shall be 53,277.2. The 
estimated council tax surplus on the collection fund shall be £2.19 million as at 31 
March 2015. 
 
2. Purpose of report 
 
2.1 To obtain formal approval of the tax base calculated for the financial year 2015/16 

for the City Council. 
 
2.2 To approve the estimate of the balance on the Council Tax Collection Fund at 31        

March 2015. 
 
3. Background 
 
The Council tax base is the total number of domestic properties in the city, after 
making deductions for exempt dwellings and for the granting of reliefs and discounts 
for disabled occupiers, single occupiers, council tax support and empty properties.  
 
The tax base also makes allowances for adjustments to the Valuation List and an 
allowance for non-collection.  The adjusted numbers of properties in each of the eight 
valuation bands A to H are expressed as the number of band D equivalents, in order 
to produce a single figure. 
 
The tax base is used in the calculation of the Council Tax by the City Council as well 
as in the calculation of the precept payable by the City Council to the Hampshire 
Police & Crime Commissioner and the Fire Authority. 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



 

2 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

It is necessary to seek approval of the tax base at an early stage in the budget 
setting process because the City Council is required to notify the Police and Fire 
Authorities of the tax base before 31 January of each year. This is to allow them 
sufficient time to finalise their budget requirement and notify the City Council of their 
precept by no later than 1 March. 
 
The Collection Fund is a fund kept and maintained by the City Council into which are 
paid any amounts collected in respect of Council Tax and Non Domestic Rates and 
out of which are paid the precepts to the Hampshire Police and Crime Commissioner, 
the Fire Authority and payments to central government and also the City Council's 
own demand on the Fund.   
 
Any sums received or payments made in respect of Non Domestic Rates have to be 
separately identified within the Fund. This will be taken into account within the report 
on the 2015/16 revenue budget, which will be considered by the City Council on 10 
February 2015.    

 
Any surplus or deficit arising in 2014/15 is to be shared by the City Council and the 
Police and Crime Commissioner and Fire Authority according to the defined precept 
percentages.  
 
The Collection Fund is considered at this stage of the budget process because the 
City Council is required to calculate the surplus or deficit on the Collection Fund by 
22 January 2015 and notify the Police and Crime Commissioner and Fire Authority 
within seven working days of calculating the estimate (i.e. by 31 January 2015). 
  
 
4. Recommendations 
 
5.1 That in accordance with The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) 

(England) Regulations 2012, the amount calculated by Portsmouth City Council 
as its Council Tax Base for 2015/16 shall be 53,277.2 

 
5.2 That in accordance with The Local Authorities (Funds) (England) Regulations 

1992 as amended, the amount calculated by Portsmouth City Council as the 
surplus on its Council Tax Collection Fund at 31 March 2015 shall be £2.19 
million. 

 
 
 
6. Reasons for recommendations 
 
6.1 Analysis of the Dwellings on the Valuation List 
 
The detailed rules for calculating the Council Tax Base are contained within the Local 
Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) Regulations 2012.  
 
The starting point is a return made to the Department of Communities and Local 
Government in October of each year that contains a “snapshot” of the analysis of 
dwellings appearing on the Valuation List.  A summary of this return is included with 

Page 8



 

3 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

this report as Appendix 1, showing the total number of dwellings and the major types 
of discount and exemptions across the Council Tax banding range.  
 
Points worthy of note from this analysis are that: 
 

 The total number of dwellings has increased by 397 over the last year from 
88,890 to 89,287. This compares to a rise for the previous year of 265.   
 

 The “snapshot” number of 5,177 exemptions represents those already granted 
as of 6 October 2014 and in calculating the Tax Base, an addition has to be 
included (See Appendix 2) to account for exemptions that will be granted 
retrospectively. It is worth noting that the number of exemptions in comparison 
to 2013/14 has reduced by 304, improving the tax base position. 

 

 The largest category of exemptions is relevant to student accommodation, of 
which there were 3,656 as at 6 October 2014. 

 

 The 32,835 dwellings receiving 25% discount represents 37% of the valuation 
list, of which 31,781 are single adult resident households. Authentication tests 
on the entitlement to a discount are performed each year, which includes 
comparison to the electoral register and residency checks.  The single adult 
discount review saw a significant reduction in claims, with a number of those 
taxpayers reviewed confirming that additional adults are resident and are no 
longer entitled to a discount. 

 

 Of 89,287 dwellings on the Valuation List only 49,040 (55%) are liable to the 
full charge. This is an increase of 2% compared to last year, and is the result 
of fewer discounts and exemptions. 

 
6.2 Calculating the Tax Base 
 
Appendix 2 to this report sets out a summary of the calculations used to establish the 
Tax Base, with the starting point being the number of “Chargeable dwellings 
(adjusted for Disabled reductions)”. 
 
An adjustment is made for appeals, discounts and exemptions likely to be granted 
after October 2014 that will retrospectively increase the “snapshot” number shown in 
Appendix 1. This is estimated to be an additional 115 based on trends in both the 
number of reductions and their financial effect on collections.  
  
Deductions are then also made to allow for the effects of discounts given at 50% and 
25% and discounts for empty properties using the associated dwelling numbers from 
Appendix 1. The deduction for discounts and exemptions is the composite of newly 
awarded discounts and exemptions, and those being ended. 
 
The Council Tax Support scheme now forms part of the tax base as a discount. An 
estimate has been made based on the current Council Tax Support recipients and is 
apportioned over the bands.  
 

Page 9



 

4 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

It is necessary to forecast any changes to this baseline for the period from November 
2014 through to the 31st March 2016 based on the best available analysis of trends in 
the numbers of dwellings, exemptions and discounts.  
 
Adjustments for November 2014 through to March 2016 have therefore been made 
to account for a total of 612 expected new dwellings. After discounts and exemptions 
and part year completions have been applied to this it is estimated that the net 
equivalent increase for the full year will be 340. 

 
Although we do not anticipate a large increase in the number of appeals over 
bandings, this year has seen a greater number of higher banded properties 
successfully achieving a reduction in band, and it is estimated that this experience 
will continue through 2015/2016.  For each reduction that is made and is backdated 
to 1993, on properties in band D or less it has the financial equivalent of losing a 
band D property for the whole of the year. For each property above band D it is the 
financial equivalent of two band D properties.  
 
The resultant number is the “Net equivalent chargeable dwellings” providing a 
baseline for the Tax Base calculation. 
 
The equivalent number of dwellings, after these adjustments, is converted into 
"Relevant Amounts" or Band D Equivalent Dwellings. The aggregate of these 
relevant amounts is then multiplied by the estimated “ultimate” collection rate of 
97.8%, an increase of 0.2% on 2014/15. 
 
The final adjustment to the tax base is to add back an estimate of the equivalent 
number of Band D dwellings on which the Crown / MOD will pay a contribution in lieu 
of Council Tax. 
 
The resultant TAX BASE for 2015/16 is 53,277.2 as shown in Appendix 2. 
 
6.3 Comparison with 2014/15 Tax Base 
 
The Tax Base has increased to reflect the number of new properties due to be added 
to the valuation list between November 2014 and 31 March 2016, in addition to the 
increase already experienced.  There have also been reductions in exemptions and 
discounts, including reductions in council tax support expenditure. 
 
 
6.4 Factors to consider in assessing the balance on the Collection Fund at 31 
March 2015  
 
The three key factors, which can influence the balance on the Collection Fund at 31 
March 2015, are: - 
 

 The balance brought forward from the previous year 

 A re-assessment of the income due in 2014/15 and therefore the extent 
of discounts and exemptions 

 An assessment of the provision required in respect of any arrears at 31 
March 2015 which the City Council considers will be ultimately non-
collectable 

Page 10



 

5 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
Each of these is considered in turn: - 
 
6.5 Collection Fund at 1 April 2014  
 
On closing the accounts at 31 March 2014, the surplus on the Council Tax Collection 
Fund was £1.857 million. 
 
6.6 A re-assessment of the income due 2014/15 
 
Based on the latest information available, the gross income due from Council Tax in 
2014/15 is estimated to be £74.418m. This is assessed as follows: - 
  

 £’000 £’000 
   
Gross Liability  (102,843) 
   
Less: Exemptions 6,098  
         Discounts 
         Council Tax Support/Benefit 

9,758 
12,669 

  
 

         Banding Appeals 190 28,715 

   
Plus:  Forecast additions to tax base to the end 
          March 2015 

  
(290) 

   

Gross Income due  (74,418) 

 
 

 
 
 
6.7 Estimated Council Tax Arrears at 31 March 2015 and Provision for Losses 

 
Estimated Council Tax arrears at 31 March 2015 are projected to be as follows: - 

              
   £’000 
   
Arrears brought forward at 1 April 2014 
 

  12,477 

Gross Income due 2014/15   74,418 

    86,895 

Less:    
Council Tax collected in year (net of refunds)  (73,547) 
   

Bad Debt Written Off  (2) 
 

Estimated Arrears at 31 March 2015   13,346 

 
 

Page 11



 

6 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

The arrears as at 31 March 2015 are forecast to be £13.346m. 
 
Whilst every effort will be made to collect all outstanding arrears, it is inevitable that a 
certain element will ultimately prove to be irrecoverable (e.g. “gone away” cases, 
deceased estates etc), and it is necessary to make provision for this element within 
the Collection Fund. 
 
Of the £13.346m arrears, £9.443m has been set aside as expected to be 
uncollectable leaving £3.903m forecast to be collectable, relating to the current year 
and all previous years. 
  

  
6.8 Estimate of balance on the Council Tax Collection Fund at 31 March 2015 
 
Based on the assumptions referred to above in respect of the balance brought 
forward at 1 April 2014, the revised estimate of income due in 2014/15, the projected 
arrears and the proposed change in provision for losses, the Council Tax Collection 
Fund results in the following: - 
 
 
COUNCIL TAX COLLECTION FUND 2014/15 
            

 £’000 £’000 
   
Surplus brought forward at 1 April 2014  (1,857) 
   
INCOME   
   
Council Tax Income due 2014/15   
   
Council Tax (73,513)  
MoD Contribution      (905) (74,418) 

   
  
Council Tax Estimated surplus 2013/14   
Portsmouth City Council 1,185  
Hampshire Police Authority 153  
Hampshire Fire Authority 62 1,400 

   
EXPENDITURE   
   
Precepts   
Portsmouth City Council  60,371  
Hampshire Police Authority 7,949  
Hampshire Fire Authority 3,163 71,483 

   
Provision for losses    1,202 
   

ESTIMATED SURPLUS AT 31st March 2015  (2,190) 

 

Page 12



 

7 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
This position will be taken into account in setting the City Council Budget for 2015/16. 
 
7 NNDR COLLECTION FUND AND TAX BASE 2015/16 
 
7.1 The Collection Fund comprises two parts, the first part relates to the Council 

Tax as previously described, the second part of the Collection Fund estimates 
the total income to be collected in respect of business rates paid by the 
occupiers of commercial premises and the distribution of those Business 
Rates to Central Government, the Fire Authority and the City Council. 

 
7.2 Prior to April 2013 all business rates income was passed to Central 

Government and this was re-distributed to local authorities based upon a 
combination of needs and resources in the form of "formula grant". 

 
7.3 In April 2013 the system was reformed with the introduction of the business 

rates retention system, whereby, each local authority would now retain a 
"proportionate share" of the business rates collected in the billing authority 
area. For Portsmouth, the proportionate share is 49% of all business rates 
collected. 

 
7.4 Section 59A and Schedule 7B to the Local Government Finance Act 1988, 

imposes a duty on the council, as a billing authority, to calculate the level of 
business rates (effectively its business rates tax base) it anticipates collecting 
for 2015/16 and pass this information by 31 January 2015 to precepting 
authorities. The NNDR tax base must be set between 1 December 2014 and 
31 January 2015. This information is then passed to the Government (DCLG) 
by the 31 January 2015. 

 
7.5 The estimate of the Business Rates tax base (and therefore business rates 

income) and any surplus / deficit on the Fund will be contained in the budget 
report that will be submitted to Council for approval on 10 February 2015. 

 
 
8 Head of Legal Services comments 
 
 
8.1 The City Solicitor has confirmed that it is within the Executive’s powers to 

approve the recommendations set out above. 
 
 

9  Head of Financial Services comments 
 
9.1   All financial implications arising from the recommendations are contained within 

the body of the report. 
 
 
 
 
 

……………………………………………….. ………………………………… 

Page 13



 

8 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Signed by:  Head of Financial Services  Head of Revenues & Benefits 
 
Appendices: 1 Analysis of Dwellings 
    2 Tax base calculation 
 
 
 

Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
 

The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 
material extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Title of document Location  

1 CTB1 Form 2014/15 Local Taxation Section 

2 Tax Base 2015/16 Files Local Taxation Section 

3 Council Tax Forecast of Arrears File Financial Services LAN 

4 Council Tax Support estimates Revenues & Benefits LAN 

 
The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ 
deferred/ rejected by [Cabinet] on [8th January 2015]. 

 
 
 

……………………………………………… 
Signed by: [Leader of City Council] 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



APPENDIX 1

ANALYSIS OF DWELLINGS ON VALUATION LIST AS AT OCTOBER 2014

ANALYSIS OF DWELLINGS <BAND A BAND A BAND B BAND C BAND D BAND E BAND F BAND G BAND H TOTAL

TOTAL NUMBER OF

DWELLINGS ON VALUATION LIST 0 24,879 31,062 21,402 5,982 3,610 1,615 675 62 89,287

Exempt Dwellings 0 (1,407) (2,187) (919) (314) (244) (45) (39) (22) (5,177)

Demolitions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Dwellings with a Disabled reduction 0 (32) (109) (134) (49) (34) (23) (14) (15) (410)

Banding effect of Disabled reductions 32 109 134 49 34 23 14 15 0 410

Chargeable dwellings 32 23,549 28,900 20,398 5,653 3,355 1,561 637 25 84,110

25% Discount (Single Person 9 13,389 10,910 5,816 1,491 777 341 100 2 32,835

Dwellings & 1 person disregarded)

50% Discount (All Residents 0 47 20 29 4 11 17 24 7 159

Disregarded)

50% Discount (Work Related Second 0 5 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 7

Homes)

Discounts on empty dwellings 0 765 757 327 103 76 31 9 1 2,069

including long term empty

Dwellings with 100% liability 23 9,343 17,212 14,225 4,055 2,491 1,172 504 15 49,040

30/12/14 Tax Base Report 2015 Appendices

P
age 15



APPENDIX 2

CALCULATION OF PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL TAX BASE 2015/2016

DESCRIPTION OF ADJUSTMENTS <BAND A BAND A BAND B BAND C BAND D BAND E BAND F BAND G BAND H TOTAL

Chargeable dwellings 32 23,549 28,900 20,398 5,653 3,355 1,561 637 25 84,110

(adjusted for Disabled reductions)

Adjustments to chargeable dwellings

Deduction for the effect of 25% discounts (2.3) (3,347.3) (2,727.5) (1,454.0) (372.8) (194.3) (85.3) (25.0) (0.5) (8,208.8)

Deduction for the effect of 50% discounts 0.0 (26.0) (10.5) (15.0) (2.0) (5.5) (8.5) (12.0) (3.5) (83.0)

Deduction for empty property discounts 0.0 (90.0) (83.4) (40.8) (10.4) (12.4) (3.4) (0.4) 0.0 (240.8)

Addition for the the effect of the empty home premium 0.0 21.0 15.0 5.5 2.0 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 45.0

Forecasted adjustments to chargeable dwellings

Forecasted deduction for the Local Council Tax Support Scheme (8.0) (6,645.1) (3,925.4) (1,519.6) (220.5) (62.6) (13.2) (2.9) 0.0 (12,397.2)

Forecasted deduction for retrospective discounts and exemptions 0.0 (5.0) (5.0) (3.0) (1.0) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (14.0)

Forecasted deduction for appeals resulting in reduction in council tax band. 0.0 0.0 (14.8) (46.8) (3.7) (4.9) (25.8) (4.9) 0.0 (100.9)

Forecasted addition of new dwellings 0.0 230.0 10.0 56.0 23.0 0.0 17.0 1.0 3.0 340.0

Net Equivalent chargeable dwellings 21.8 13,686.6 22,158.4 17,380.3 5,067.7 3,076.9 1,441.9 592.8 24.0 63,450.4

Ratio to band D 5/9 6/9 7/9 8/9 9/9 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9

Band D Equivalent 12.1 9,124.4 17,234.3 15,449.2 5,067.7 3,760.7 2,082.7 988.0 48.0 53,767.0

Aggregate of relevant amounts x 97.8% 52,584.1

ADD Contributions in lieu for Crown / MOD 693.1

Portsmouth City Council Tax Base 2015/16 53,277.2

30/12/14 Tax Base Report 2015 Appendices

P
age 16



 

1 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
Agenda item:  

Decision maker: 
 

Cabinet – 8th January 2015 
 

Subject: Business Rates Discretionary Relief policy 
 

Report By: 
 

Head of Revenues & Benefits 
 

Wards affected: 
 

All 

Key decision (over £250k):  No 
 

 

Forward Plan:                       No  
 

 
 
 
1. Purpose of report  
 
 The purpose of this report is for Cabinet to approve a technical change and to 

delegate authority to the Head of Revenues & Benefits for further Government 
policy or legislated change 

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
 Cabinet agree the following recommendations: 

 
i. Approve the Government policy amendment that will increase Retail 

Relief to a maximum of £1,500 for 2015/16 
 

ii. Grant delegated authority to the Head of Revenues & Benefits to update 
the policy in the case of any further Government policy or legislated 
change 
 
 

3. Background 
 

In the Autumn Statement of 3rd December 2014, the Chancellor stated that 
Retail Relief will increase for the period April 2015 to March 2016. 
 
The Government has determined that it will allow for a relief to all occupied retail 
properties premises (including pubs, cafes, restaurants and charity shops) with a 
rateable value of £50,000 or less as follows: 
• Up to £1,000 in 2014/15 
• Up to £1,500 in 2015/16. 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



 

2 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

The Council's policy follows Government guidance on what is meant by the 
terms shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments. The definitions are 
held in Section 8 of the policy document (Appendix 1). 
 
As this is a temporary measure only, the Government is not changing the 
legislation around the reliefs available to properties. Instead local authorities are 
using their discretionary relief powers (under section 47 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988, as amended) to grant relief. 
 
Portsmouth City Council's policy for the granting of Discretionary Non-Domestic 
Rate Relief needs to be amended to take account of this policy change. 
 
It will be for individual local billing authorities to decide to grant relief under 
section 47 but central Government will fully reimburse Local Authorities for loss 
of retained business rate income (via a grant under Section 31 of the Local 
Government Act 2003) based on outturn of relief granted according to the 
guidance specified by central Government. 
 
 

4. Equality impact assessment (EIA) 
 
There are no equality implications to this policy / policy change. 
 
 

5. Legal implications 
 
There are no legal issues beyond those described in the body of the report. 
 

  
6. Head of finance’s comments 

 
The financial implications of the proposals set out within this report are financially 
neutral to the Council since any loss in retained Business Rate income will be re-
imbursed by a grant from central government of equivalent value. 
 
 
 

……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 – Policy for the granting of Discretionary Non-Domestic Rate Relief 
 
 
Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
 

Page 18



 

3 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 
material extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Title of document Location 

  

  

 
 
 
The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/ 
rejected by ……………………………… on ……………………………… 
 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Policy for the granting of 
Discretionary Non-Domestic Rate 

Relief 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
  

Page 21



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
2 

 
Version Control 
Version Version date Revised by Description 
1 July 1998 - Original policy 
1.1 February 2002 V Lane Update for leisure attractions & Guildhall 

1.2 May 2013 V Fair Update to new style 
1.3 June 2013 C Lennard Minor updates 
2 February 2014 E Woodhouse New discretionary reliefs 
2.1 March 2014 E Woodhouse Update for Flood relief 

2.2 April 2014 E Woodhouse Update for Reoccupation relief 

2.3 January 2015 E Woodhouse Update for change to Retail Relief amount 

 
Contents 
1.0 Purpose of the Policy .............................................................................................. 3 
2.0 Mandatory Relief - Legislative Background ............................................................. 4 

Charity Relief .......................................................................................................... 4 
Rural Rate Relief .................................................................................................... 4 

3.0 Discretionary Relief – Legislative Background ........................................................ 5 
Introduction............................................................................................................. 5 

4.0 Charity Relief – Mandatory Relief recipients ........................................................... 7 
General Explanation ............................................................................................... 7 
Charity registration ................................................................................................. 7 
Use of Premises – wholly or mainly used ............................................................... 8 

Offices, administration and similar premises ............................................................ 8 
Charity shops ........................................................................................................... 8 
Charity Relief – Mandatory Relief recipients, the City Council’s Policy ..................... 8 

5.0 Discretionary Relief – Non Profit Making Organisations including Recreation ......... 9 
General explanation ............................................................................................... 9 
Discretionary Relief - Non–Profit Organisations including Recreation – the City 
Council’s Policy .................................................................................................... 10 

6.0 Discretionary Relief – Localism Act 2011 .............................................................. 11 
General explanation ...................................................................................................... 11 

Discretionary Relief – Localism – the City Council’s Policy ................................... 11 
7.0 Discretionary Relief – Unoccupied New Structures ............................................... 13 
General explanation ...................................................................................................... 13 

Discretionary Relief – Unoccupied New Structures – the City Council’s Policy. ...... 14 
8.0 Discretionary Relief – Retail Relief ....................................................................... 15 
General explanation ...................................................................................................... 15 

Discretionary Relief – Retail Relief – the City Council’s Policy. ............................... 17 
9.0 Discretionary Relief – Reoccupation Relief ........................................................... 18 
General explanation ...................................................................................................... 18 

Discretionary Relief – Reoccupation Relief – the City Council’s Policy ................... 19 
10.0 Discretionary Relief – Flooding Relief ................................................................... 20 
General explanation ...................................................................................................... 20 

Definition of Flood .................................................................................................. 20 
Discretionary Relief – Flooding Relief – the City Council’s Policy ........................... 21 

11.0 Discretionary Relief – EU State Aid requirements ................................................. 23 
12.0 Administration of Discretionary Relief ................................................................... 24 

Applications and Evidence .................................................................................... 24 
Granting of relief ................................................................................................... 24 
Variation of a decision .......................................................................................... 25 
Appeal rights ........................................................................................................ 25 

13.0 Proposed Scheme of Delegation .......................................................................... 26 
Granting, Varying, Reviewing and Revocation of Relief ........................................ 26 
Appeals ................................................................................................................ 26 

Page 22



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
3 

 
 

1.0 Purpose of the Policy 
 
1.1 The purpose of this policy is to determine the level of discretionary relief to be 

granted to certain defined ratepayers within the City Council’s area. 
 
1.2 The Local Government Finance Act 1988 and subsequent legislation requires the 

authority to grant mandatory relief for premises occupied by Charities and similar 
organisations that own or occupy them wholly or mainly for charitable purposes.  
Likewise certain premises situated within a rural settlement area will be eligible 
for mandatory relief. Powers have also been granted under the Localism Act 
2011, which allow for the granting of discretionary rate relief to any premises 
where the authority feels the granting of such relief would be of benefit to the 
local community. 

 
1.3 Further guidance has also been received from Central Government in respect of 

the granting of relief for: 

 Unoccupied new structures (from 1st October 2013); 

 Retail relief (from 1st April 2014); and 

 Retail reoccupation relief (from 1st April 2014) 

 Flooding relief (from 1st December 2013). 
 

The values and relevant dates of these reliefs may be varied by Government. 
Any variations will be incorporated into the policy by change control at the 
relevant times. 

 
1.4 Whilst the City Council is obliged to grant relief to premises, which fall within the 

mandatory category, the City Council also has powers to grant discretionary relief 
to ratepayers subject to certain criteria being met. In the case of new reliefs, 
guidance has been issued by Central Government outlining actions expected to 
be taken by local authorities.  

 
1.5 Full details of the legislative requirements for both mandatory and discretionary 

relief are given within the following sections this report. 
 
1.6 This document also outlines the following areas: 
 

 Details of the criteria for receiving Discretionary Relief for all relevant areas; 

 The Council’s policy for granting of all types of Discretionary Relief; 

 Guidance on granting and administering the relief; 

 European Union requirements including provisions for State Aid; and 

 The Scheme of Delegation. 
 
1.7 This policy covers all aspects of discretionary rate relief (subject to changes in 

legislation). Where organisations apply for relief they will be granted (or not 
granted) relief in line with the following policy. 

 
 
  

Page 23



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
4 

 

2.0 Mandatory Relief - Legislative Background 
 
Charity Relief 
 
2.1 The powers relating to the granting of mandatory1 and discretionary relief are 

given to the authority under the Local Government Finance Act 19882. Charities 
and Trustees for Charities are only liable to pay one fifth of the Non Domestic 
Rates that would otherwise be payable where property is occupied and used 
wholly or mainly for charitable purposes. This amounts to mandatory relief of 
80%. For the purposes of the Act a charity is an organisation or trust established 
for charitable purposes, whether or not it is registered with the Charity 
Commission. The provision has recently been extended under the Local 
Government Act 2003 (effective from 1st April 2004) to registered Community 
Amateur Sports Clubs (CASCs). 

 
2.2 The authority has discretion to grant relief of up to a further 20% for these cases 

under the discretionary provisions.  

 
Rural Rate Relief 
 
2.3 The City Council has no rural settlements within its area. 

  

                                                
1 S43 & S45 Local Government Finance Act 1988 
2 S47 & S48 Local Government Finance Act 1988 

Page 24



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
5 

3.0 Discretionary Relief – Legislative Background 
 
Introduction 
 
3.1 The original purpose of discretionary relief was to provide assistance where the 

property does not qualify for mandatory relief, or to ‘top’ up cases where 
ratepayers already receive mandatory relief. 

 
3.2 Over recent years and particularly since 2011, the discretionary relief provisions 

have been amended to allow authorities the flexibility to provide assistance to 
businesses and organisations. Central Government have also allowed for relief: 

 to be targeted to certain business ratepayers; 

 to encourage building of business premises even though the developer may 
not be able to sell or let the premises immediately; 

 to alleviate the effects of the recession; and  

 to encourage the use of retail premises which have been unoccupied for a 
period of time. 

 
3.3 The range of bodies, which are eligible for discretionary rate relief, is wide and 

not all of the criteria laid down by the legislation will be applicable in each case. 
 
3.4 Unlike mandatory relief, ratepayers are obliged to make a written application to 

the City Council. 
 
3.5 The City Council is obliged to consider carefully every application on its merits, 

taking into account the contribution that the organisation makes to the amenities 
of the area. There is no statutory appeal process against any decision made by 
the Council although as with any decision of a public authority, decisions can be 
reviewed by Judicial Review. 

 
3.6 Granting of the relief falls broadly into the following categories: 

 
a. Discretionary Relief – Charities who already receive mandatory relief. 
b. Discretionary Relief – Premises occupied by organisations not established or 

conducted for profit whose main objects are charitable or are otherwise 
philanthropic or religious or concerned with education, social welfare, science, 
literature or the fine arts;  

c. Discretionary Relief – Premises occupied by organisations not established or 
conducted for profit and wholly or mainly used for purposes recreation; 

d. Discretionary Relief – Rural Rate relief  - premises that already receive 
mandatory relief (not applicable to the City Council); 

e. Discretionary Relief – Rural Rate relief  - premises not receiving mandatory 
relief but of benefit to the local community and less that £16,500 RV (not 
applicable to the City Council); 

f. Discretionary Relief – Granted under the Localism Act 2011 provisions 
g. Discretionary Relief – Unoccupied New Structures (available from 1st October 

2013); 
h. Discretionary Relief  - Retail relief (available from 1st April 2014); 
i. Discretionary Relief  - Reoccupation Relief (available from 1st April 2014); 
j. Discretionary Relief - Flooding Relief (from 1st December 2014). 

 
3.7 The decision to grant or not to grant relief is a matter purely for the City Council 

although the general principles are a matter of concern to Central Government 

Page 25



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
6 

and in the case of g., h., i. & j. above, Central Government has provided specific 
guidance and finance. 

 

 

Page 26



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
7 

4.0 Charity Relief – Mandatory Relief recipients 
 
General Explanation 
 
4.1 Section 43 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 allows mandatory relief 

(80%) to be granted on premises if the ratepayer is a charity or trustees for a 
charity and the premises are wholly or mainly used for charitable purposes. No 
charge is made in respect of unoccupied premises where it appears that when 
next in use it will be used wholly or mainly for those purposes. 

 
4.2 The legislation has been amended by the Local Government Act 2003 (effective 

from 1st April 2004) to include registered3 Community Amateur Sports Clubs 
(CASC). These organisations can now receive the mandatory (80%) relief.  

 

Charity registration 
 
4.3 Charities are defined within the legislation as being an institution4 or other 

organisation established for charitable purposes only or by persons administering 
a trust established for charitable purposes only.  

 
4.4 The question as to whether an organisation is a charity may be resolved in the 

majority of cases by reference to the register of charities maintained by the 
Charity Commissioners under s.4 of the Charities Act 1960. Entry in the register 
is conclusive evidence. By definition, under the Non Domestic Rating legislation, 
there is no actual need for an organisation to be a registered charity to receive 
the relief and this has been supported by litigation5, however in all cases the 
organisation must fall within the following categories: 

 trusts for the relief of poverty; 
 trusts for the advancement of religion; 
 trusts for the advancement of education; and 
 trusts for other purposes beneficial to the community, but not falling under 

any of the preceding heads.  
 
4.5 Certain organisations are exempted from registration generally and are not 

required to make formal application to the Charity Commissioners these are: 
 the Church Commissioners and any institution administered by them; 
 any registered society within the meaning of the Friendly Societies Acts of 

1896 to 1974 ; 
 units of the Boy Scouts Association or the Girl Guides Association; and 
 voluntary schools within the meaning of the Education Acts of 1944 to 

1980  
 
4.6 The authority would consider charitable organisations, registered or not, for 

mandatory relief. 

 
  

                                                
3 Registered with HMRC as a CASC 
4 S67(10) Local Government Finance Act 1988 
5 Income Tax Special Commissioners v Pemsell (1891) 

 

Page 27



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
8 

Use of Premises – wholly or mainly used 
4.7 Irrespective of whether an organisation is registered as a charity or not, the 

premises must be wholly or mainly used for charitable purposes. This is essential 
if any relief (either mandatory or discretionary) is to be granted. In most cases 
this can be readily seen by inspection but on occasions the authority has had to 
question the actual use to which the premises are to be put. 

 
4.8 Guidance from the Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) 

has stated that in the case of ‘mainly’, at least 51% must be used for charitable 
purposes whether of that charity or of that and other charities 

 
 
4.9 The following part of this section gives details on typical uses where relief may be 

given plus additional criteria that have to be satisfied. The list is not exhaustive 
but gives clear guidance on premises for which mandatory relief can be granted 
and therefore premises which could be equally considered for discretionary rate 
relief. 

 
Offices, administration and similar premises 
 
4.10 Premises used for administration of the Charity including: 

 Offices 
 Meeting Rooms 
 Conference Rooms 

 
Charity shops 
 
4.11 Charity shops are required to meet additional legislative criteria if they are to 

receive mandatory (and therefore discretionary) relief. Section 64(10) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 provides that a property is to be treated as being 
wholly or mainly used for charitable purposes at any time if, at the time, it is 
wholly or mainly used for the sale of goods donated to a charity and the proceeds 
of the sale of the goods (after any deduction of expenses) are applied for the 
purposes of the charity. 

 
4.12 In order to ascertain whether an organisation meets these requirements, 

inspections may be made by staff when an application is received 
 

Charity Relief – Mandatory Relief recipients, the City Council’s Policy 
 
4.13 Organisations already in receipt of mandatory relief will not generally be eligible 

for discretionary relief but applications will be considered on their merits from 
charitable bodies & Community Amateur Sports Clubs, which can demonstrate 
that their activities are consistent with the City Council's core values and 
priorities, and tackling poverty strategy. 

 
4.14 A decision to award discretionary relief and how much relief is given is only 

applicable to the financial year for which the application is made 
 
4.15 A fresh application for discretionary relief will be necessary for each financial 

year. 

Page 28



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
9 

5.0 Discretionary Relief – Non Profit Making 
Organisations including Recreation 
 
General explanation 
 
Non-Profit 
5.1 The legislation6 allows the authority to grant discretionary relief where the 

property is not an excepted one and all or part of it is occupied for the purposes 
of one or more institutions or other organisations none of which is established or 
conducted for profit and each of whose main objects are charitable or are 
otherwise philanthropic or religious or concerned with education, social welfare, 
science, literature or the fine arts. 

 
5.2 Relief cannot be granted to any premises occupied by the City Council, or any 

town or parish council (excepted premises). 
 
5.3 A number of issues arise from the term ‘not established or conducted for profit’. 

This requires the authority to make enquiries as to the overall purpose of the 
organisation although if surpluses and such amounts are directed towards the 
furtherance or achievement of the objects of the organisation then it does not 
necessarily mean that the organisation was established or conducted for profit.7 

 
Recreation Clubs 
5.4 Ideally all recreation clubs should be encouraged to apply for CASC status, which 

would automatically entitle them to 80% relief whilst at the same time ensuring 
that no cost of the relief is borne by the authority. 

 
5.5 Recreation Clubs can also apply to the Charity Commissioners for registration as 

a Charity (thereby falling under the mandatory provisions for 80% relief) where 
they meet the following conditions: 

a. The promotion of community participation in healthy recreation and by 
the provision of facilities for the playing of particular sports; and 

b. The advancement of the physical education of young people not 
undergoing formal education. 

 

5.6 Where sports clubs do not meet the CASC requirement, and are not registered 
charities, discretionary relief can be granted (0-100%) where the property is not 
an excepted one, it is wholly or mainly used for purposes of recreation and all or 
part of it is occupied for the purpose of a club, society or other organisation not 
established or conducted for profit. 

 
5.7 Sport England can provide a definition of recreation for these purposes 
 
5.8 Within this area the authority also considers whether the facilities provided relieve 

the authority of the need to do so, or enhance and supplement those that it does 
provide. 

 

                                                
6 S47 Local Government Finance Act 1988 
7 National Deposit Friendly Society v Skegness Urban District Council (1958)1 and Guinness Trust (London Fund) v West Ham County 
Borough Council (1959) 

 

Page 29



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
10 

Discretionary Relief - Non–Profit Organisations including 
Recreation – the City Council’s Policy 
 
5.9 Applications will be considered from non-profit making organisations, which can 

demonstrate the following: 
a. That the activities of the organisation are consistent with the City Council's 

core values and priorities, and tackling poverty strategy; 
b. That they are non-profit making associations, groups, clubs which are 

accessible to all potential users, possess a representative management 
group and are clearly accountable to users, beneficiaries and members 
(e.g. evidence of constitution, GM, membership and/or participation are 
required); 

c. That the membership comprises mainly residents of Portsmouth or that 
activities are of direct benefit to residents of Portsmouth;  

d. Both as an employer, and provider of services, the organisation shall seek 
to eliminate all forms of discrimination in its activities and shall undertake 
its work with due regard to the Race Relations Act 1976, the Sex 
Discrimination Act 1975, the Disability Discrimination Act 1996 and the 
City Council's own commitment to Equal Opportunities;  

e. The organisation shall not discriminate on grounds of race, gender, 
disability or political or religious persuasion (except in so far as the 
objectives of the organisation specifically address one section or group 
within the community);  

f. That its membership is committed financially through subscriptions and 
other fund raising activities to provide facilities etc., for the organisation 
and its membership; 

g. That without relief the organisation may experience financial hardship.  
 
5.10 Organisations already in receipt of grant aid from the City Council will not 

generally be eligible for discretionary relief.  
 
5.11 A decision to award discretionary relief and how much relief is given is only 

applicable to the financial year for which the application is made. 
 
5.12 A fresh application for discretionary relief will be necessary for each financial 

year. 

  

Page 30



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
11 

6.0 Discretionary Relief – Localism Act 2011 
 
General explanation 
 
6.1 Section 69 of the Localism Act 2011 amended Section 47 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1988. These provisions all authorities to grant 
discretionary relief in any circumstances where it feels fit having regards to the 
effect on the Council Tax payers of its area. 

 
6.2 The provisions are designed to give authorities flexibility in granting relief where it 

is felt that to do so would be of benefit generally to the area and be reasonable 
given the financial effect to Council Tax payers. 

 

Discretionary Relief – Localism – the City Council’s Policy 
 
6.3 Applications will be considered from any ratepayer who wishes to apply however, 

where a ratepayer is suffering hardship or severe difficulties in paying their rates 
liability then relief can be granted under the existing provisions as laid down by 
Section 49 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988. There will be no 
requirement to grant relief in such cases under the City Council’s discretionary 
relief policy. 

 
6.4 Any ratepayer applying for discretionary rate relief under these provisions and 

who does not meet the criteria for existing relief (charities, non profit making 
organisations or rural premises) must meet all of the following criteria and the 
amount of relief granted will be dependant on the following key factors: 

 
a. The ratepayer must not be entitled to mandatory rate relief (Charity or Rural 

Rate Relief); 
b. The ratepayer must not be an organisation that could receive relief as a non 

profit making organisation or as a sports club or similar; 
c. The ratepayer must occupy the premises (no discretionary rate relief will be 

granted for unoccupied premises); 
d. The premises and organisation must be of significant benefit to residents of 

the city; 
e. The premises and organisation must relieve the City Council of providing 

similar facilities; 
f. The ratepayer must; 

a. Provide facilities to certain priority groups such as elderly, disabled, 
minority groups, disadvantaged groups; or  

b. Provide significant employment or employment opportunities to 
residents of the City; or   

c. Provide the residents of the City with such services, opportunities or 
facilities that cannot be obtained locally or are not provided locally by 
another organisation; 

g. The ratepayer must demonstrate that assistance (provided by the 
discretionary rate relief) will be for a short time only and that any business / 
operation is financially viable in the medium and long term; and 

h. The ratepayer must show that the activities of the organisation are consistent 
with the City Council's core values and priorities, and tackling poverty 
strategy. 

 

Page 31



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
12 

6.5 Where a ratepayer can demonstrate that all of the above criteria are met, relief 
will be considered for a period of one year. 

 
6.6 A formal application from the ratepayer will be required in each case and any 

relief will be granted in line with State Aid requirements. 
 

  

Page 32



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
13 

 

7.0 Discretionary Relief – Unoccupied New Structures 
 
General explanation 
 
7.1 Central Government announced in December 2012 that, it would exempt all 

newly built unoccupied commercial property completed between 1 October 2013 
and 30 September 2016 from empty property rates for the first 18 months, up to 
the state aids limits. 

 
7.2 As this is a temporary measure, the Government are not changing the rules on 

when a property becomes liable for empty property rates (which would be 
charged at 100%). Instead they are providing the exemption by reimbursing local 
authorities that use their discretionary relief powers (under section 47 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988) to grant relief in prescribed circumstances.  

 
7.3 It will be for the City Council to decide to grant relief under section 47 but Central 

Government will fully reimburse local authorities for the local share of the 
discretionary relief (using a grant under s31 of the Local Government Act 2003) 
based on outturn of relief granted in the circumstances specified. Through this 
mechanism, central government will guarantee to reimburse local within the rates 
retention system. 

 
7.4 In order to receive the relief, the premises will be all unoccupied non-domestic 

properties that are wholly or mainly comprised of qualifying new structures.  
 

‘Structures’ means:  
a) foundations ;and/or 
b) permanent walls; and/ or  
c) permanent roofs. 

 
The definition of ‘new’ means; 

a. Completed less that 18 months previously; and 
b. Completed after 1st October 2013 and before 30th September 2016. 

 
7.5 New structures are to be considered completed when the building or part of the 

building of which they form part is ready for occupation for the purpose it was 
constructed unless a completion notice has been served in respect of such a 
building or part of a building – in which case it would be the date specified in that 
notice. 

 
7.6 The relief runs with the property rather than the owner so subsequent owners 

may also qualify. 
 
7.7 In all cases the relief will be subject to State Aid requirements as mentioned later 

in this policy. 
 
7.8 In all cases, an inspection of the premises shall be made by an officer of the 

authority, prior to granting any relief 
 

  

Page 33



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
14 

Discretionary Relief – Unoccupied New Structures – the City 
Council’s Policy. 
 
7.9 The relief is designed to provide an incentive to owners, developers etc. to build 

new non-domestic premises without the fear of facing unoccupied property rate 
charges. Central Government is also prepared to finance the relief through the 
Business Rates Retention scheme. In view of this the City Council will grant the 
relief in accordance with Central Government guidance for all qualifying new 
structures. 

 
7.10 An application from the ratepayer will be required in each case and any relief will 

be granted in line with State Aid requirements. 
 
7.11 This exemption is available for unoccupied new structures that were completed 

between 1st October 2013 and 30th September 2016 and will be granted for a 
period of 18 months to include existing empty property exempt periods. 

 
EXAMPLE 
A simple example is a new build office that is unoccupied from the date it is 
completed for 18 months. In such a circumstance the ratepayer would not be 
required to pay rates for the first 3 months under the 2008 Regulations and then 
would benefit from 15 months new build empty property relief provided through 
section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988.  

Page 34



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
15 

8.0 Discretionary Relief – Retail Relief 
 
General explanation 
 
8.1 The Government determined that it will allow for a relief to all occupied retail 

properties with a rateable value of £50,000 or less as follows: 

 Up to £1,000 in 2014/15 

 Up to £1,500 in 2015/16. 
 
8.2 As this is a temporary measure only, the Government is not changing the 

legislation around the reliefs available to properties. Instead local authorities will 
use their discretionary relief powers, introduced by the Localism Act (under 
section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, as amended) to grant 
relief. It will be for individual authorities to adopt a local scheme and decide in 
each individual case when to grant relief under section 47.  

 
8.3 Central government will fully reimburse local authorities for the local share of the 

discretionary relief (using a grant under section 31 of the Local Government Act 
2003). 

 
8.4 The Government expects local government to grant relief to qualifying 

ratepayers.  
 
8.5 Properties that will benefit from the relief will be occupied properties with a 

rateable value of £50,000 or less that are wholly or mainly being used as: 

 Shops; 

 Restaurants; 

 Cafes; and 

 Drinking establishments 
 
8.6 This policy will follow Government guidance that considers shops, restaurants, 

cafes and drinking establishments to mean: 
 

i. Properties that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting members of the 
public: 

− Shops (such as: florist, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, 
jewellers, stationers, off licence, chemists, newsagents, hardware stores, 
supermarkets, etc.) 
− Charity shops 
− Opticians 
− Post offices 
− Furnishing shops/ display rooms (such as: carpet shops, double glazing, 
garage doors) 
− Car/ caravan show rooms 
− Second hand car lots 
− Markets 
− Petrol stations 
− Garden centres 
− Art galleries (where art is for sale/hire) 

 
ii. Properties that are being used for the provision of the following services to 
visiting members of the public: 

Page 35



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
16 

− Hair and beauty services (such as: hair dressers, nail bars, beauty 
salons, tanning shops, etc.) 
− Shoe repairs/ key cutting 
− Travel agents 
− Ticket offices e.g. for theatre 
− Dry cleaners 
− Launderettes 
− PC/ TV/ domestic appliance repair 
− Funeral directors 
− Photo processing 
− DVD/ video rentals 
− Tool hire 
− Car hire 

 
iii. Properties that are being used for the sale of food and/ or drink to visiting 
members of the public: 

− Restaurants 
− Takeaways 
− Sandwich shops 
− Coffee shops 
− Pubs 
− Bars 

 
8.7 To qualify for the relief the property should be wholly or mainly being used as a 

shop, restaurant, cafe or drinking establishment. In a similar way to other reliefs 
(such as charity relief), this is a test on use rather than occupation. Therefore, 
properties which are occupied but not wholly or mainly used for the qualifying 
purpose will not qualify for the relief. 

 
8.8 The list set out above is not intended to be exhaustive as it would be impossible 

to list the many and varied retail uses that exist. There will also be mixed uses. 
However, it will be used as a guide as to the types of uses that government 
considers for this purpose to be retail. Properties not listed above which are 
broadly similar in nature to those above will be considered for the relief. 
Conversely, properties that are not broadly similar in nature to those listed above 
would not be eligible for the relief. 

 
8.9 The list below sets out the types of uses that government does not consider to be 

retail use for the purpose of this relief. Again, it is for local authorities to 
determine for themselves whether particular properties are broadly similar in 
nature to those below and, if so, to consider them not eligible for the relief under 
their local scheme. 

 
i. Properties that are being used for the provision of the following services to 
visiting members of the public: 

− Financial services (e.g. banks, building societies, cash points, bureau 
de change, payday lenders, betting shops, pawn brokers) 
− Other services (e.g. estate agents, letting agents, employment 

agencies) 
− Medical services (e.g. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, chiropractors) 
− Professional services (e.g. solicitors, accountants, insurance agents/ 
financial advisers, tutors) 
− Post office sorting office 

 
ii. Properties that are not reasonably accessible to visiting members of the public 

Page 36



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
17 

 
8.10 Central Government guidance gives a range of premises that may benefit from 

the relief and the City Council will use this when deciding entitlement. It is 
acknowledged that this is guidance and each application will be looked at on its 
own merits. 

 
8.11 The total amount of relief available for each eligible property for each of the years 

under this scheme is up to £1,000 in 2014/15 and up to £1,500 in 2015/16. The 
amounts will not vary with rateable value and there is no taper. There is no relief 
available under this scheme for properties with a rateable value of more than 
£50,000.  The eligibility for the relief and the relief itself will be assessed and 
calculated on a daily basis for each day of occupation. It will be granted after the 
application of any other relief, which may be applicable and also be granted for all 
properties meeting the criteria. 

 
8.12 Any amounts granted will be subject to State Aid requirements. 
 

Discretionary Relief – Retail Relief – the City Council’s Policy. 
 
8.13 The relief is designed primarily to assist businesses during the recession. Central 

Government is prepared to finance the relief through the Business Rates 
Retention scheme. In view of this the City Council will grant the relief in 
accordance with Central Government guidance for all qualifying premises. 

 
8.14 An application from the ratepayer will be required in each case.  
 
8.15 This relief will only be available during the financial years 2014/15 and 2015/16 

  

Page 37



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
18 

9.0 Discretionary Relief – Reoccupation Relief 
 
General explanation 
 
9.1 Central Government has introduced a 50% discount from non-domestic rates for 

new occupations of previously empty retail premises. The discount will last for 18 
months and be available from 1st April 2014 until 31st March 2016.  

 
9.2 The relief which is available from 1st April 2014 can be granted for all 

occupations of premises which meet the following criteria: 
 

 The premises, when last in use were wholly or mainly used for retail 
purposes (see Section 8.6 above for definition of retail purposes); 

 The premises have been unoccupied for a period of 12 months or more 
immediately before their reoccupation; 

 The premises become reoccupied between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 
2016; and 

 The premises are being used for any purpose (although it should be noted 
that the Government will only reimburse the City Council for any relief 
granted so long as it is for any type of occupation except for those wholly 
or mainly being used as betting shops, payday loan shops, and pawn 
brokers). 

 
9.3 There is no rateable value limit for the hereditament in respect of either the 

previous or reoccupied use and the amount of the relief is limited to 50% of the 
rate charge after taking into account all other mandatory and discretionary reliefs 
that may be available to the ratepayer. 

 
9.4 The relief will run with the property rather than the ratepayer. So if premises are 

in receipt of the relief and a new ratepayer becomes liable for the property they 
will benefit from the remaining term of the relief. 

 
9.5 The definition of retail premises is identical to that given within the retail relief 

provisions at paragraph 8.6 of this policy. 
 
9.6 As this is a temporary measure only, the Government is not changing the 

legislation around the reliefs available to properties. Instead local authorities will 
use their discretionary relief powers, introduced by the Localism Act (under 
section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, as amended) to grant 
relief. It will be for individual authorities to adopt a local scheme and decide in 
each individual case when to grant relief under section 47.  

 
9.7 Central government will fully reimburse local authorities for the local share of the 

discretionary relief (using a grant under section 31 of the Local Government Act 
2003). 

 
9.8 The Government expects local government to grant relief to qualifying ratepayers 

and any amounts granted will be subject to State Aid requirements. 
 
 
 

Page 38



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
19 

Discretionary Relief – Reoccupation Relief – the City Council’s 
Policy 
 
9.9 The relief is designed primarily to assist businesses during the recession and 

particularly in this case, to encourage the re-occupation of vacant retail premises. 
Central Government is prepared to finance the relief through the Business Rates 
Retention scheme. In view of this the City Council will grant the relief in 
accordance with Central Government guidance for all qualifying premises. 

 
9.10 An application from the ratepayer will be required in each case. This relief is 

available for a maximum of 18 months as long as it is claimed prior to 31st March 
2016. 

 
  

Page 39



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
20 

 

10.0 Discretionary Relief – Flooding Relief 
 

General explanation 
 
10.1 Central Government has introduced a new business rates relief for properties that 

have been flooded. It does not replace existing legislation or any other relief. 
 
10.2 The Government will fund 100% rate relief for three months, for those properties 

which meet the following criteria: 
 

For any day between 1 December 2013 and 31 March 2014: 
 
i. the property has been flooded in whole or in part as a result of adverse weather 
conditions; and 
 
ii. on that day, as a result of the flooding at the property, the business activity 
undertaken at the property was adversely affected; and 
 
iii. the rateable value of the property on that day was less than £10 million. 

 
10.3 The impact of the flooding will be considered in the full context of all business 

activities undertaken at the hereditament. Very small or insignificant impacts will 
not attract this relief. 

 
10.4 As this is a temporary measure only, the Government is not changing the 

legislation around the reliefs available to properties. Instead local authorities will 
use their discretionary relief powers, introduced by the Localism Act (under 
section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, as amended) to grant 
relief. It will be for individual authorities to adopt a local scheme and decide in 
each individual case when to grant relief under section 47.  

 
10.5 Central government will fully reimburse local authorities for the local share of the 

discretionary relief (using a grant under section 31 of the Local Government Act 
2003). 

 
10.6 The Government expects local government to grant relief to qualifying 

ratepayers. 
 
 

Definition of Flood 
 
10.7 The funding is for the impacts of flooding from the adverse weather conditions 

between 1 December 2013 and 31 March 2014, and not, for instance, from the 
failure of a water main, internal water systems or the failure of a sewerage 
system (unless the failure was itself caused by the adverse weather conditions). 

 
10.8 A flood is defined in Section 1 of the Flood & Water Management Act 2010: 
 

1(1) “Flood” includes any case where land not normally covered by water 
becomes covered by water. 
 
(2) It does not matter for the purpose of subsection (1) whether a flood is caused 
by— 

Page 40



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
21 

 
(a) heavy rainfall, 
(b) a river overflowing or its banks being breached, 
(c) a dam overflowing or being breached, 
(d) tidal waters, 
(e) groundwater, or 
(e) anything else (including any combination of factors). 

 
(3) But “flood” does not include— 

 
(a) a flood from any part of a sewerage system, unless wholly or partly 
caused by an increase in the volume of rainwater (including snow and 
other precipitation) entering or otherwise affecting the system, or 
(b) a flood caused by a burst water main (within the meaning given by 
section 219 of the Water Industry Act 1991). 

 
 

Discretionary Relief – Flooding Relief – the City Council’s Policy 
 
10.9 An application from the ratepayer will be required in each case. 
 
10.10 The scheme applies to all types and uses of non-domestic hereditaments (other 

than those occupied by the Billing Authority). 
 
10.11 Funding will be provided to authorities for the 3 months of relief granted starting 

on the day the hereditament first met the criteria set out in paragraph 8. The 3 
months relief will apply irrespective of how long the flooding or adverse business 
impacts last. 

 
10.12 Where a hereditament has been flooded more than once and business activities 

are adversely impacted, only one period of 3 months relief will be funded and 
should be applied from the first date on which the criteria in paragraph 8 were 
met. 

 
10.13 This flooding relief will be applied after any other relief has been applied, e.g. 

retail relief. 
 
10.14 This relief will be calculated ignoring any prior year adjustments in liabilities which 

fall to be liable on the day. 
 
10.15 Ratepayers that occupy more than one property may be granted relief within the 

scheme for each of their eligible properties. 
 
10.16 Funding for rate relief will continue to be given following a change of ratepayer. 

The relief will run with the property rather than the ratepayer. . 
 
10.17 Where a new hereditament is created as a result of a split or merger from a 

hereditament which for the day immediately prior to the split or merger met the 
criteria above, funding will be provided to allow relief to be given for the remaining 
balance of the three months. 

 
10.18 The scheme does not cover relief for any hereditament which was empty at the 

time it was flooded as there was no business activity on the premises at the time.  
 

Page 41



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
22 

10.19 Where a hereditament becomes empty after the flood then it will receive the 
normal 3 or 6 months (as applicable) empty property rate free period or will 
continue to receive the balance of the flooding relief. 

 
10.20 Where a property is eligible for Enterprise Zone relief, that relief should be 

granted and this will be funded under the rates retention scheme by a deduction 
from the central share. If a property in an Enterprise Zone is not eligible for 
Enterprise Zone relief, or that relief has ended, Flooding Relief may be granted in 
the normal way, and this would be reimbursed by grant under section 31 of the 
Local Government Act 2003. Local authorities should not claim funding for 
Flooding Relief on properties which would otherwise qualify for Enterprise Zone 
government funded relief. 

 
10.21 Seriously damaged property may be taken off the ratings list. Where a property is 

removed from the rating list the ratepayer is not liable for business rates. If, as a 
result of the floods, the property is removed for more than 3 months that property 
will not require relief. Where it is less than 3 months rate relief should be provided 
so in total the occupier gets 3 months equivalent where they are not liable for 
rates. 

 
  

Page 42



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
23 

11.0 Discretionary Relief – EU State Aid requirements 
 
11.1 European Union competition rules generally prohibit Government subsidies to 

businesses. Relief from taxes, including non-domestic rates, can constitute state 
aid. The Council must bear this in mind when granting discretionary rate relief. 

 
11.2 Rate relief for charities and non-profit making bodies is not generally considered 

to be state aid, because the recipients are not in market competition with other 
businesses. However, where other bodies receive relief and are engaged in 
commercial activities or if they are displacing an economic operator or if they 
have a commercial partner, rate relief could constitute state aid. 

 
11.3 Relief will be State Aid compliant where it is provided in accordance with the De 

Minimis Regulations (1407/2013)8 .The De Minimis Regulations allow an 
undertaking to receive up to €200,000 of De Minimis aid in a three year period 
(consisting of the current financial year and the two previous financial years).  

 
11.4 Where the relief to any one business is greater than the De Minimis level then 

permission will need to be obtained from the European Commission. In such 
cases the matter will be referred to the DCLG for advice and then referred back 
to the City Council for consideration.  

 
11.5 In all cases, when making an application, ratepayers will be required to provide 

the City Council with sufficient information to determine whether these provisions 
are applicable in their case. 

                                                
8 http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF   

Page 43



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
24 

12.0 Administration of Discretionary Relief 
 
12.1 The following section outlines the procedures followed by officers in granting, 

amending or cancelling discretionary relief. This is essentially laid down by 
legislation9 

 
Applications and Evidence 
 
12.2 Discretionary rate relief must be applied for in writing by the ratepayer. 

Application forms are produced within the City Council and issued to all 
ratepayers requesting the relief.  

 
12.3 Organisations are required to provide a completed application form plus any such 

evidence, documents, accounts, financial statements etc. necessary to allow the 
authority to make a decision. Where insufficient information is provided, despite 
reminders, then no relief will be granted. 

 
Granting of relief  
 
12.4 In all cases, the City Council will notify the ratepayer of decisions made. 
 
12.5 Where an application is successful, then the following is notified to them in 

writing: 
 The amount of relief granted and the date from which it has been granted; 
 If relief has been granted for a specified period, the date on which it will end; 
 The new chargeable amount; 
 The details of any planned review dates and the notice that will be given in 

advance of a change to the level of relief granted; and 
 A requirement that the applicant should notify the authority of any change in 

circumstances that may affect entitlement to relief. 
 
12.6 Where relief is not granted then the following information is provided, again in 

writing: 

 An explanation of the decision within the context of the authority’s statutory 
duty; and 

 An explanation of the appeal rights (see below). 
 
12.7 Relief is to be granted from the beginning of the financial year in which the 

decision is made. Since 1997 decisions can be made up to 6 months after the 
end of the financial year for which the application was made. Where the relief is 
only available for a limited period as defined by Central Government then it will 
only be granted for that period. 

 
12.8 A decision to award discretionary relief and how much relief is given is only 

applicable to the financial year for which the application is made. 
 
12.9 A fresh application for discretionary relief will be necessary for each financial 

year. 
 
 

                                                
9 The Non-Domestic Rating (Discretionary Relief) Regulations 1989 

 

Page 44



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
25 

Variation of a decision 
  
12.10 Variations in any decision will be notified to ratepayers as soon as practicable 

and will take effect as follows: 

 Where the amount is to be increased due to a change in rate charge – from 
the date of the increase in rate charge; 

 Where the amount is to increase for any other reason (other than a general 
termination of relief under Central Government guidelines)– takes effect at the 
expiry of a financial year, and so that at least one year’s notice is given; 

 Where the amount is to be reduced due to a reduction in the rate charge – 
from the date of the decrease in rate charge; 

 Where the amount is to be reduced for any other reason (other than a general 
termination of relief under Central Government guidelines) – takes effect at 
the expiry of a financial year, and so that at least one year’s notice is given 

 
12.11 A decision may be revoked and the change will take effect at the expiry of a 

financial year (other than a general termination of relief under Central 
Government guidelines). 

 

Appeal rights 
 
12.12 Whilst there is no formal right of appeal except by judicial review, we are advised 

by Central Government to constitute a review panel of members where a decision 
is appealed and where the original decision has been made by officers under 
delegated powers. 

 

Page 45



Portsmouth City Council – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy v2.3         
26 

13.0 Proposed Scheme of Delegation 
 

Granting, Varying, Reviewing and Revocation of Relief 
 
13.1 Under powers given to the authority by section 223 of the Local Government Act 

1992, all permissions for the granting, varying, reviewing and revocation of 
discretionary relief given under the Local Government Finance Act 1988, the 
Local Government and Rating Act 1997, the Local Government Act 2003 and the 
Localism Act 2011 be delegated to the Head of Revenues and Benefits. 

 
13.2 The method of administration shall be that laid down within this policy document. 

The level of the discretionary relief shall be calculated in accordance with 
guidance given within this policy and determined by the Head of Revenues and 
Benefits 

 
13.3 The policy for granting relief will be reviewed where there is a substantial change 

to the legislation or funding rules. At such time a revised policy will be brought 
before the relevant committee of the City Council.  

 
13.4 The amount of funding to be provided by the City Council in respect of 

discretionary relief granted shall be determined by the S151 Officer/Head of 
Financial Services and approved by Council in the normal budgeting process. 

 

Appeals 
 
13.5 Where the authority receives an appeal from the ratepayer regarding the 

granting, non-granting or amount of any discretionary relief, in line with DCLG 
guidelines, the case will initially be reviewed by the Head of Revenues and 
Benefits in conjunction with the s151 Officer/Head of Financial Services. Where a 
decision is revised then the ratepayer shall be informed likewise if the original 
decision is upheld. 

 
13.6 Where a further appeal is made the matter shall be referred to a panel of 

members (consisting of not less than three Council members) for a decision to be 
made. 

Page 46


	Agenda
	3 Record of Previous Decision Meeting - 4 December 2014
	5 Calculation of the tax base for 2014/15 and estimation of the Council tax collection fund balance at 31st March 2015
	Tax Base 2015 Appendices

	6 Business Rates Discretionary Relief Policy
	Portsmouth NDR Disc Relief Policy (appendix)


